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WINDMILLS IN WARWICKSHIRE

INTRODUCTION

The following account is primarily a contemporary survey of what remains to be seen of the windmills in Warwickshire, with a limited amount of historical background.  The area chosen is that contained within the former boundary of the county of Warwickshire before the 1974 county boundary changes and it is clearly shown on the map of windmill locations. The presentation is in the form of a guide to the windmill remains today giving concise reference to their type, condition, situation and significant historical facts, together with information of some old sites; the whole being laid out in six sections comprising introduction and account of windmills, photographs, map, table of existing windmills, list of old sites, bibliography. For reasons of financial economy the original draft of this survey has had to be condensed, particularly in respect of the descriptions of the windmills and their history.  For instance various millers and their dates are known for several mills as well as many other historical facts and incidents.  Like-wise, although in many cases complete information is known of the machinery and equipment, the descriptions are restricted to the main features in general terms. However, in spite of these restrictions, significant attention has been focussed on the historical background because it has been researched in considerable depth and also no comprehensive survey of Warwickshire's windmills has previously been published in book form. Joint authorship was chosen in order to expedite publication by incorporating the survey into a continuing series of county windmill surveys commenced in 1970, W.A. Seaby has been responsible for all the contemporary and historical research and the initial fieldwork which was accomplished during 1976 when he visited the remaining 16 occupied sites and 70 old sites. Subsequently he and A. C. Smith revisited all the 16 occupied sites and 13 old sites in June 1977.  A. C. Smith has contributed the introduction, photos, cover design and general layout and also assisted in condensing the original manuscript.  During the fieldwork, in addition to the black and white photographs the authors also recorded the windmills in colour negatives and colour transparencies. In the photographs and table of windmills the sites are arranged alphabetically. The description and condition of each mill refer to its state on the date of the recorded visit.  The map shows the relative distribution of the remaining windmills in the county together with some old sites: the windmill symbols, being diagrammatic, are not intended to represent the precise state of each mill; the dot in each symbol indicates the exact location of the mill.  The old sites have been mainly restricted to those which contained windmills (or remains of same) into the 20th century.

It has been attempted to cover all the sites of corn windmills containing visible remains ranging in condition from fully standing mills down to ruins, and the following classification of the conditions of windmills has been made.

Restorations: Windmills restored and maintained with all or part of their machinery, equipment and sails, but not necessarily in working order.

Preservations: those which may or may not have cap, sails and machinery, but are kept in good repair.

Conversions: those converted to houses or other uses.

Derelicts: disused windmills left untended in any state from being fully equipped to empty shells of full height. 

Truncations: derelict, preserved or converted tower or smock mills reduced to about two thirds or a half of their original height.

Remains: those ranging from towers reduced to one storey, smock mill bases and post mill roundhouses, to ruined shells and foundations.

In making this classification the number of conditions is limited to avoid confusion and certain generalisations are made, so exceptions to the rule inevitably occur; also of course combinations of some states occur such as converted truncations for instance. It is not the purpose of this survey to give detailed descriptions of the different types of windmills and how they grind corn: this may be found in certain books in the bibliography, so the following brief explanation will suffice.  There are three main types namely Post Mill, Tower Mill and Smock Mill.

The Post Mill, the earliest design, is made of wood.  Its rectangular box like body (sometimes called the buck), to which the sails are attached, contains all the corn grinding machinery, gears, stones and ancilliary equipment, with a ladder at the back for access.  This whole structure rotates on a central main post supported by the trestle comprising quarterbars and crosstrees on brick piers sometimes covered by a brick or stone roundhouse.

The Tower Mill, a far sturdier design, has a tower usually built of brick or stone (occasionally a combination of each) which is generally of circular section tapering (called batter) upwards and containing most of the machinery, stones and equipment. On top of this tower just the cap rotates with the sails and associated windshaft and gears.

The Smock Mill is built and works similarly to the Tower mill except that its construction is of wood on a brick base or foundations and it is usually octagonal in cross-section.  A windmill is turned so that its sails face the wind, known as luffing, by means of pushing on a long tailpole attached to the body (in the case of a post mill) or the cap (in a tower or smock mill); a later development made use of a long endless chain and wheel operating gearing between the cap and a rack round the top (curb) of the tower to turn the cap, and finally it was achieved by the automatic action of a fantail and gearing adapted in various ways to all types of mills.  Sails (sometimes called sweeps) are made of wood and generally 4 in number (though a mill will work satisfactorily on 2), the early pattern being the common sails which were cloth covered, followed by spring and patent sails fitted with shutters working semi-automatically: some mills used a combination of both.

Most windmills are prominently in view from public highways and footpaths,

but they are usually on private land and therefore permission should be obtained from the owners if close inspection is desired.
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THE WINDMILLS

The first attempt this century to survey the existing windmills in Warwickshire seems to have been that carried out by the Coventry Herald in 1925, all the photographs having been taken by Mr. L. F. Phelps within a year of the date of publication.  Unfortunately notes accompanying the twenty-five illustrations, published weekly, are inadequate and uneven in content although the photographs are valuable as indicating the conditions of the survivors at that period. Only two windmills seem to have been omitted, the sailless brick tower with ogee-shaped cap at Hasluck's Green, Solihull Lodge, near Shirley, and the large cone-covered base of another tower mill at Coleshill, then a store.  The stone tower, containing most of its machinery but without sails and cap, at Lower Quinton lay at that time in Gloucestershire, so naturally was not included; it only came within the county after the boundary changes of 1934. Some years earlier than this newspaper's survey, which incidentally in its terminal article listed another forty mills that had by then been dismantled, a lecture on windmills was given in Birmingham, perhaps at the Midland Institute, and typed notes for this talk survive in the Birmingham Central Library.  Although neither the name of the lecturer nor the exact date of the talk are given, and the sheets were not bound up until 1930, there is sufficient internal evidence to say that the trips to photograph the various windmills in the county and interrogate the owners and millers probably took place a few years before the start of the 1914-18 War and that the lecture itself was likely to have been delivered in 1910 or 1911.  It is unfortunate that these notes, valuable though they are, should be both brief and cryptic, while it is believed that only about two-thirds of the windmills then standing were dealt with.  A note in the Simmons survey suggests that R. Hancock of Stechford may have given this talk.

In the 1930s two further studies were carried out but neither was complete. The first by Messrs F. M. Underhill and W. A. Seaby was done on half a dozen trips, through the county between 1934 and 1936, taking photographs and making notes on the spot, but it only included 15 of the 28 windmills and stumps then standing and it did not go into print.  Then in 1937 Mr. G. N. Shann published his "Windmills in the Neighbourhood of Rugby - those which remain or have recently stood within a 20-25 miles radius" in the annual Report of Rugby School Natural History Society. Again, by the very nature of the limitation imposed by the investigator, the whole of the county was not covered, and the mills and mill sites that he did not actually visit are summarily dealt with, several within the area surveyed being omitted. or mentioned.  But here no attempt was made to list all windmill remains of the 1930 - 1940 period.

The first large scale Warwickshire windmill survey, both historical and technological, seems to be that carried out by the late Herbert E.S. Simmons of Shoreham-by-Sea, who compiled avast agglomeration of notes and photographs of wind and watermills from all over the country; these records are now housed in the Science Museum Library, South Kensington, His investigation in the 1930s and 1940s for this county alone carried him back to documentary evidence of the thirteenth century, and in more than 200 sheets of typed notes he covered some 220 windmills which are spread over a period of approximately 700 years.  He seems to have examined personally all sites of this county's mills which survived into the present century, and he wrote an excellent short treatise of "Past and Present Warwickshire Windmills" for the Miller (21 April 1947) in which eleven examples are given in detail with a further twelve discussed

In 1951 Mr. G. A. Burn of the metal tube and pipe making company of that name published in The Bee, the firm's annual review, a list with small photographic illustrations of all the windmills he was able to locate within some 30 miles or so of Birmingham.  They included those known to him in Warwickshire, Staffordshire, Shropshire, Worcestershire and in the borders of Gloucestershire, Northamptonshire and Leicestershire.  Of the Warwickshire group he photo graphed and made notes of 21 examples including Shrewley Tower Mill demolished in 1949, the remains of Burton Dassett Post Mill blown over in 1946, also the rubble and main shaft of Quinton Tower Mill demolished in the spring of 1951. However he seems to have missed the skeletal remains of Baxterley Common Post Mill and five towers then standing at Attleborough, Bradnocks' Marsh, Coleshill (low stump), Exhall and the converted water tower at Kenilworth. During the 1960s the Wind and Watermill Section of the Society for the protection of Ancient Buildings conducted a nationwide windmill survey under the' chairmanship of Mr. Rex Wailes; those in Warwickshire then numbering about Z3 were dealt with technologically by Mr. Derek Ogden, who as a practising millwright has been responsible for the repair and restoration of a number of the surviving wind and watermills in this as in some other regions of the country (see Bibliography: Windmill Index England and Wales).

The Mid-Warwickshire Branch of the Historical Association published "The Destroyed Buildings of Warwickshire" in 1975, under the editorship of Mr. Pete Bolton.  In a second edition the following year a fuller list of windmills demolished or severely modified, but in a few cases restored, during the present century was drawn up; but here too there are omissions and several errors in the compressed entries.  More recently an addendum with corrections has been issued by the Society.

However during the past two years the Warwick County Museum has been carrying out a comprehensive historic survey of windmills in Warwickshire from medieval times to the present day, and all data from the above sources as well as other published material, maps, documents and much verbal information have been taken into account in making assessments of the background and basic technology of each individual mill.  To date some 300 windmills, or recorded sites of former windmills, covering a period from 1225 to the present day, have been listed for the county. A photographic display of past and present Warwickshire Windmills, mounted by the staff at the Museum, together with a distribution map showing some 160 sites, was on view at the 1977 Annual Conference of the Avoncroft Museum of Buildings held at the North Worcestershire College, Bromsgrove, the theme being "English Windmills and Windmilling

Here it is only possible to deal in any detail with the 16 survivors of the years 1976 and 1977, although a further 34, of which photographs or firm documentary evidence exist, are briefly listed.  The area in which all lie is the present county of Warwick and the three metropolitan boroughs of Coventry, Solihull and Birmingham which together constitute the eastern half of the new county of the West Midlands. There are now no post mills in the region. The sole survivor, that of Danzey Green, Tanworth, was taken down in 1969 and re-erected in the Avoncroft Museum of Buildings at Stoke Heath near Bromsgrove during 1970; so it now lies in the Worcestershire area.  Likewise there are no smock mills, which traditionally were little employed in this region of England.  It is known that one or two wooden tower mills were erected in Birmingham during the 18th century and the evidence for them rests on one situated at Deritend Heath as partly represented and in shadow on Fisher, Son & Co's View of Birmingham 1826; also another on Birmingham Heath, shown sailless but with fantail, in an unsigned watercolour of mid-19th century date in the City Museum, Birmingham, and given as 'of English oak' in a sale advertisement dated 13th January 1849.  Yet another record is the half scale model of Dyke Mill, Bourn, Lines., 18 feet high, built by Thos. B. Soham under the direction of Mr. Rex Wailes in 1935 on the site of Crackley Post Mill, Kenilworth for Mr. J.D. Siddeley, the late Lord Kenilworth, to perpetuate the memory of the windmill that formerly stood on that spot.  It had a short windshaft with cast iron brakewheel but no other machinery: this mill has long since gone.  Another scale model, that of a Dutch post mill, stands in Cannon Hill Park, Birmingham, having been set up at the time of the Tulip Festival in 1970.

Tower mills in Warwickshire are of stone or brick, in several cases being a combination of both.  Far and away the oldest and most interesting is the unique Chesterton windmill supported on six arches, the piers being approximate square-sectioned.  It was built in 16 3Z by or for Sir Edward Peyto who lived in the Manor House nearby; thus it predates any other modern tower mill by over fifty years (but see under Burton Dassett).  Chesterton mill was thoroughly overhauled, being fitted with an aluminium cap covering in place of the original, much stripped, lead one and new full length sails; also undergoing many other repairs to stone fabric and to internal machinery, between 1965 and 1971: for the past twelve years the mill has been in the custody of the Warwickshire County Council.

Another early mill is that which lies on the hill above Compton Wynyates but in the parish of Tysoe.  This has a squat twelve-sided tower with slight batter more acute in the upper courses. It is built of local oolitic stone and seems to have been erected in the first or second quarter of the 18th century.  Fortunately it has been thoroughly restored at the expense of the owner, the Marquess of Northampton, the timberwork of sails and of machinery, as at Chesterton, being carried out by Mr. Derek Ogden.

Windmills combining stone and brick in different ways are to be found at Harbury, Napton on the Hill, Pittern Hill Kineton and Fillongley.  The very tall tower, now sailless, in the centre of Harbury village, has the walling of its lower floorbuilt up of stone believed to have come from Chesterton House which was demolished in 1802; the walling of the four upper floors is of brick, and it still retains its iron covered boat shaped cap with a wooden wheel in the cap tail projection for hand luffing by endless chain.  The staging at the third floor has in recent years been removed, only the stumps of the supporting posts standing out like a frill round the tower.  Much of the machinery is still in the mill, but the millstones have not ground by electric power since 1952. Napton on the Hill is a four storeyed, once tarred, brick tower on a stone foundation with basement below ground level.  It stands some 500 feet (152m) above sea level on the edge of a great clay quarry, and has since its construction in the 19th century been a prominent landmark.  Like so many of its companions however, it has suffered very greatly from neglect, wind and weather.  While it had a superficial restoration of windows, doors, cap and new sails in 1972, the great storm of 2 January 1976 was responsible for snapping off two of its sweeps.  Pittern Hill is a four storeyed tower with domed metal cap, basically stone on the outside with interior brick lining; it has had its  original doors and some windows bricked up. For some years during this century, after the machinery had been removed, two large galvanised tanks were installed at cap level and it was used as a water tower for the nearby farm.

Tainter's Hill, Kenilworth with its brick tower is another 18th century mill where conversion to water storage occurred, but in this case by 1884 when the tower was heightened and a very large circular tank was lodged on top.  This tank has recently been removed, and the mill with the additions of raised conical cap and white painted exterior (making it look very like a lighthouse) is now converted into a domestic building.   Other house conversions are those at Thurlaston, Packwood, Bradnock's Marsh in Berkswell parish and that on the Fillongley/Corley boundary.  All are of brick with the exception of Fillongley, which like Harbury has lower courses of stone.  The great tower in a village garden at Thurlaston is by far the tallest of these conversions, being some 65 feet high and recently turned into a residence with a modern low conical roof and new fenestration.  The conversions of Packwood and Bradnock's Marsh are both a good deal older being truncations with pyramidal roofs of tilework, but the Fillongley mill which for many years had been used as a scullery and store to the adjoining mill cottage is at present being converted into a wing of this modernised house.

Of the two stark towers at Southam and Tuttle Hill, Nuneaton, the former is no more than a derelict three storeyed truncation, while some effort is being made to preserve the latter in its present four storeyed state. It is particular sad that this windmill, the last to work in the western midlands (all through 1935) with its five double-shuttered sails, should be reduced to such low status On the positive side it is good to see the early 19th century Balsall Common brick windmill restored to its former self with four new sails, and open to visitors on Sundays.  It is to be hoped that much the same may be done for Norton Lindsey brick tower mill, which retains all its internal machinery although the cap and sails are in need of complete restoration.  The neglected brick tower at Rowington Green will shortly be taken in hand but in this case as part of a house complex of novel design; and it is intended that some portion of the existing machinery will be retained and that the boat shaped cap will be rebuilt in some similar form.

There are numerous old sites where windmills once stood, some of which still show evidence of their former occupation, and a few of these mills only came down in recent years. The ruins of Baxterley Common post mill were cleared away about 1969 , its main post of 1793 being used in the reconstruction of Danzey Green post mill at Avoncroft Museum of Buildings. At Birdingbury the pier bases of the post mill remain on a mound, and at Burton Dassett the main post and a crosstree of the post mill restored in 1933, which was blown down in 1946, lie on the ground just below the site. The brick tower at Bedworth was pulled down in the 1960s and several other towers were recently demolished to make way for housing estates namely Coleshill in 1964, Quinton in 1951 and Solihull (Haslucks Green) in 1957.  The brick tower in Whitnash Road at Leamington Spa came down as recently as 1968 and Windmill Inn stands by the site. Millstones lying on the ground mark other old sites; one at Corley Moor below trees by Mill Cottage, some more in the garden of Mill House at Stockton, two in the edge of a wood north of Bearley and one mounted on its edge in Milton Close, Bentley Heath, Solihull. Finally good examples of mill mounds may be seen at Monks Kirby, Elmdon(Damson Lane), Farnborough (Windmill Hill) and Long Itchington (Bascote). All of these sites with others are listed and located under Some Old Sites (pages 20 to 23~) except the last four, which are too old to be considered in this survey.
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including some old sites




Windmills in Warwickshire 1976 - 1977

	Date of Record
	Place Name

& Nat. Grid Ref.
	Type
	Description & Condition
	Situation
	Date Built

& Notes

	25th August 1976

4th June 1977
	BERKSWELL

Balsall Common (West Midlands)

SP249759
	Tower
	Restored: in good condition. Red brick tower with marked batter, 4 sails (2 common, 2 shuttered type), boat cap with extension for luffing gear, 2 prs. stones and most machinery: small, 3 storey.


	On mound edged with low brick wall in garden of Mill House. On east side of Windmill Lane, south-east of Balsall.  Private
	1826. Worked by sail until 1927, then by oil engine until 1948. Restored for owner by D. Ogden in 1973-75 with part grant by Historic Buildings Council.  Open Sundays Easter to Sept

	25 August 1976

6 June 1977


	BERKSWELL

Bradnock's Marsh

(West Midlands)

SP216798


	Tower
	Truncated red brick tower converted into 2 storeyed wing of farm house, 10-sided pyramidal grey slated roof with weathervane


	On farm up lane under railway bridge) from main road: about I mile south-east of Hampton-in-Arden railway station. Private
	Early 19th century. Originally 3 storeys, reduced to 2 in 01900. Converted before 1939

	21 August 1976

6 June 1977


	BURTON

DASSETT

"The Beacon"

SP394521


	
	Preserved truncated stone tower, 2 storey, 20ft dia. at base, 15 ft. high with slight batter, conical cemented roof. Windows and doors now all sealed.


	On high spur of Burton Hills about 1/3 mile north-west of Burton Dassett church.

Private.
	Probably late 15th century. No positive evidence of windmill use. Site open to public.


	Date of Record
	Place Name

& Nat. Grid Ref.
	Type
	Description & Condition
	Situation
	Date Built

& Notes

	2 April 1977

6 June 1977
	CHESTERTON

SP349593
	Tower
	Restored: in good condition. Unique stone tower of cylindrical body (with windows) set on six semicircular arches on piers, aluminium covered dome cap, 4 common sails and complete with all machinery and 2 pairs stones. 36 ft. high, 22ft. 9ins. dia. 2 storeys.
	About ½ mile north of Chesterton Green. Up grass track from road, in cultivated field on top of Clay Hill.

Warwickshire County Council guardianship.
	EP 1632 on cap.

Built for Sir Edward Peyto. Major restorations 1776 and 1860. Ceased work 1910. Sails repaired and altered 1930 and later. Restored 1965-71 by Warwickshire County Council, Department of the Environment, S.P.A.B. and others under D. Ogden.

Open once a year.

	28 August 1976

5 June 1977
	FILLONGLEY

Corley Moor

SP276849
	Tower
	Derelict but now under conversion. red brick tower (tarred) with stone base, of slight ogee outline, low octagonal/pyramidal roof iron sheeted with acorn finial, empty except for main upper floor timbers: small 3 storey.
	Adjoined to house. On west side of lane going south to Birchley Hall.

Private.
	Early 19th century. Ceased work about 1880s. Had 4 common sails. Was subsequently used as a cattle shelter and store. Now under conversion to wing of house.


	Date of Record
	Place Name

& Nat. Grid Ref.
	Type
	Description & Condition
	Situation
	Date Built

& Notes

	21 August 1976

6 June 1977
	HARBURY

SP372600
	Tower
	Derelict stone (lower part) and red brick (tarred) tower with batter, in fair condition, iron sheeted boat cap with wheel and chain luffing gear, windshaft with poll end and brakewheel, 3 pairs of stones and much gear and equipment, only stumps of staging remain: about 60ft. high, 6 storey. 
	Near center of village, down small lane. Private
	Between 1802 and 1812.

Had 4 common sails and staging. Ceased work by sail 1911-12, sails off early 1920s, stocks off 1934. Subsequently worked by electricity into 1950s.

	19 April 1976

6 June 1977
	KENILWORTH

Tainters’ Hill

SP290728
	Tower
	Converted into a house. Brick tower painted white (now with curved ‘skirt’ to entrance hall) and batter changing to near cylindrical upper half, raised conical roof: 5 storey.

General appearance like a lighthouse.
	Set back about 100 yrds. east of main Coventry road, on northern border of Kenilworth nearly one mile from town center. Private.
	1778.

Had 4 common sails, boat cap and 2 pairs stones. Driven by steam 1854. Converted to water tower ( and heightened) 1884 and to house 1974-75.

	16 August 1976

6 June 1977
	KINETON

Pittern Hill

SP325517
	Tower
	Derelict stone tower, originally lined and now much patched with brick, in poor condition. Slight barrel shape; metal sheeted dome cap, remains of iron curb and rack: empty except for floors and 2 water tanks under cap: small, 4 storey.
	¾ mile, west, northwest of Kineton village , in high field by track from main road to Wellesbourne Hastings.

Private.
	Late 18th century. Had 2 pairs stones. Sails off and ceased work late 19th century. Possible use as dwelling and used as water tower during mid 20th century.


	Date of Record
	Place Name

& Nat. Grid Ref.
	Type
	Description & Condition
	Situation
	Date Built

& Notes

	22 August 1976

3 June 1977
	NAPTON ON THE HILL

SP 458613
	Tower
	Derelict but in fair condition. Red brick tower (tarred) with distinct batter on stone foundations, 2 adjacent shutter-type sails, aluminium covered dome cap with windows and acorn finial: small, 4 storey.
	On top of hill over 450ft. high 1/3 mile west of village church: on small mound, with farm cottage and derelict barn near edge of quarry: reached by track from village.

Private.
	First half of 19th century. Originally had 2 common and 2 spring sails and 3 pairs of stones.

Ceased work by sail c. 1900 and by steam c. 1909. Repairs 1973 included 4 patent sails but 2 blew off in gale Jan 1976.

	21 August 1976

4 June 1977
	NORTON LINDSEY

SP224632
	Tower
	Preserved red brick tower with slight batter in fair condition. 2 stocks with fragments of common sails, boat cap with luffing wheel at tail, 2 pairs stones and all main machinery with pulley wheel on outside for steam drive: small, 3 storey: 42 ft. high 18ft. base dia.
	In garden behind ‘Mill House’ on south side of warwick road, about 1/3 mile north west of church.

Private.
	c. 1795.

Had 4 common sails.

Steam power added 1889. Last worked 1906.

	28 August 1976

5 June 1977
	NUNEATON

formerly Caldecote

‘Tuttle Hill Mill’

SP340933
	Tower
	Preserved red brick tower with slight batter cemented over, flat roof with weathervane; retains much machinery but used as store: small, 4 storey.
	In yard of large house on hill at 456 ft. At north-west border of town north of Nuneaton / Atherstone Road.

Private.
	1821. Had 4 common sails and 3 pairs stones. Rebuilt 1905 (after storm) with iron machinery and 5 sails. Ceased work after storm damage 1936.


	Date of Record
	Place Name

& Nat. Grid Ref.
	Type
	Description & Condition
	Situation
	Date Built

& Notes

	19 February 1976

4 June 1977
	PACKWOOD

Fullard’s Mill

(West Midlands)

SP170736
	Tower
	Converted into house. Red brick truncated barrel shaped tower with octagonal / pyramidal red tiled roof: 3 storey. Red brick cottage and archway built on.
	In grounds of Packwood Towers, up short track from Windmill Lane.

Private.
	Late 18th century.

Had 4 common sails. Cap and sails blew off late 1870s, machinery removed soon after. House conversion early 20th century.

	19 February

22 April 1976

3 June 1977
	ROWINGTON

Rowington Green

‘Bouncing Bess’

SP205702
	Tower
	Derelict red brick tower in poor condition, partly cemented, with batter increasing slightly at top: boat cap, 2 pairs stones, upright shaft and some machinery (but no windshaft and brakewheel): small, 3 storey.
	About 50 yrds back from country road in clearing at wood edge. 2/3 mile north of Rowington church.

Private.
	Late 18th century.

sails struck by lightening June 1888. Worked by steam to c. 1916. Used as P.O.W. dormitory short time 1914-18 war. Plans for conversion in to house complex. 

	22 August 1976

3 June 1977
	SOUTHAM

‘Old Mill’

SP413622
	Tower
	Derelict truncated red brick tower cemented over, in poor condition, empty: 3 storey.
	On rise on north border of Southam. In small yard with cottage facing Bascote Heath Road.

Private.
	c. 1800. Rebuilt after fire in 1849. Had 4 storeys, 4 patent sails and 3 pairs stones. Sails off 1923. Worked by steam then oil until 1948. Dismantled and truncated by 1955.

Demolished early 1980s.


	Date of Record
	Place Name

& Nat. Grid Ref.
	Type
	Description & Condition
	Situation
	Date Built

& Notes

	
	TANWORTH

Danzey Green

Now SO952682
	Post
	See under ‘Some Old Sites’ page 22
	Removed from its original site in 1969 and now rebuilt and fully restored to working condition at Avoncroft Museum of Buildings, Stoke Prior, near Bromsgrove.
	

	17 April 1976

5 June 1977
	THURLASTON

SP469710
	Tower
	Converted in to a house with a modern interior. Red brick tower (tarred) with marked batter and conical black roof: tall, about 60 ft., 5 storey.
	North of church. Set back in garden off small lane.

Private.
	1794.

Had 2 pairs stones, staging, dome cap, fantail and 4 sails (2 common, 2 shuttered) which came down 1925. Also 2 pairs stones ground floor worked by steam  engine to 1919. Converted early 1970s.

	21 August 1976

6 June 1977
	TYSOE

Upper Tysoe or Compton Wynyates Windmill

SP331426
	Tower
	Restored in good condition. 12 sided stone tower with batter and barrel shaped, 4 common sails, aluminium covered conical cap with finial and tail projection for winding gear, 2 pairs stones and all machinery: small and squat, 3 storey.
	On top of Windmill Hill at nearly 600 ft. ½ mile from road. ¾ mile south west of Tysoe village and ½ mile north of Compton Wynyates House and Church.

Private. Public footpath to view exterior.
	Early 18th century.

Ceased work after lightening strike 1915. New sails 1935. Partial restoration 1951. Final restoration 1968-75 by D. Ogden at expense of owner, the Marquess of Northampton.


SOME OLD SITES

Most of these contained windmills into the 20th century but are now empty or built over: in a few cases there are mill mounds or millstones to be seen.

AUSTREY (east) SK300062 Post Mill. Built by 1824. Roundhouse, 4 common sails and tailpole. Pulled down c.l905-10.

AUSTREY (north east) SK302072 Brick Tower Mill. Built 18th century. 3 floors, 4 shuttered sails, fantail and lead covered dome cap.  Pulled down c.l915 and foundations ploughed out 1944.

AVON DASSETT SP412502 Post Mill. Built probably 17th century at Cropredy, Oxon; moved to Avon Dassett 18th century.  Open trestle, tailpole, 4 common sails and extension at mill tail.  Ceased work 1903 and pulled down 1924.

BAXTERLEY Common SP280968 Post Mill. Built "J.B. 1793" Open trestle, 4 common sails, ladder and tailpole. Ceased work by 1880s. Cleared away c.l969. Main post used for reconstruction of Danzey Green Mill, Tanworth at Avoncroft Museum of Buildings.

BEDWORTH, Hall Green, Exhall SP351855 Brick Tower Mill. Built early 19th century.  Disused by 1890.  Truncated c.l923 and used as pig sty and store.  Demolished late 1960s.

BIRDINGBURY SP432678 Post Mill. This or predecessor built 1675. Open trestle and 4 common sails.  Taken down towards end of 19th century.  Mound and pier bases remain.

BIRMINGHAM, Holloway Head, (West Midlands) SP067862 Brick Tower Mill. Built c.l745.  Damaged by lightning 1778.  Repaired and attempted sale early 19th century but became view tower in pleasure gardens.  Demolished 1878. Windmill Street marks site.

BURTON DASSETT, Northend SP394521 Post Mill. Mill built here 1664, possibly this one.  Open trestle, 4 common sails, ladder, tailpole and doorway with hooded porch.  Ceased work c.l912.  Restored by S. P. A. B. with public support 1933-4.  Blown down in storm 26 July 1946.  Main post and crosstree lie in hollow below site 1976-77.

COLESHILL, Cole End SP198891 Brick and Stone Tower Mill. Built before 1783.  Tower without sails or cap 1880s; reduced to low stump with slated roof by early 20th century and demolished for housing estate c.1964.

CORLEY, Moor SP283850 Post Mill. Built cl800. Open trestle and 4 common sails.  Working to 1880s.  Pulled down 1890s.  Millstone in trees marks site by Mill Cottage 1976.

FENNY COMPTON, Mill Hill SP421521 Post Mill. 18th century, possibly older. Tarred, open trestle, 4 common sails, ladder, tailpole and 2 prs. stones. Collapsed when main post snapped in gale 24 March 1895
GRANDBOROUGH, Woolscott SP507692. Brick Tower Mill. Built cl820. Lofty tower with ogee cap and finial; staging 4 sails and cap gallery with rotating wheel.  Worked by steam for period.  Ceased work early 20th century and demolished after 1925.

LEAMINGTON SPA, Whitnash Road SP318639 Brick Tower Mill. Small, 4 storeys, 4 common sails and 2 prs. stones.  New gearing, sails, steam drive shaft and engine house noted in 1886 advert, but ceased work c. l888 and sails sold 1894.  New sails, dome cap and sails (Errata: tailpole) put on. Sails removed 1943 and derelict tower demolished 1968. Site now car park of Windmill Inn.

LITTLE COMPTON, Quarry site SP270291 "Old Windmill" on 6in. 0. S. map (1885) and "Windmill (disused)" on 6in. 0. S. (1898), standing on island in quarry.  Probably demolished early 20th century.

MARTON SP415683 Post Mill. Moved from south side of railway line and rebuilt by mid 19th century.  Open trestle on high brick piers, 4 common sails, ladder and tailpole with lever, weather vane on tail of roof; roof and sides iron sheeted.  Pulled down c.l907.

NUNEATON, Attleborough, Quarry Farm SP378901 Brick Tower Mill. Built early 19th century.  Small, 3 storeys, I pr. stones.  Probably ceased work by 1870s.  Without sails and with conical roof 1925 and ivy clad shell by 1944. Pulled down by 1960s  and no visible remains 1976.

POLESWORTH, Warton SK286031 Post Mill. Built early 19th century. Midland type compound brick roundhouse, 4 common sails with canvas covered leading edge frames for. larger area, ladder and tailpole with lever; roof iron sheeted. Worked to at least 1st decade 20th century. Dismantled c.1923.

QUINTON, Lower Quinton SH76473 Stone Tower Mill. Built early 19th century. 3 storeys, wooden machinery and 2 prs. stones.  Ceased work by 1870s.  Sails off after 1914-18 War, later, cap blown off.  Dismantled for housing estate Spring 1951.

RATLEY and UPTON, Edge Hill SP 371470 Post Mill. Built probably early 19th century.  Open trestle, 4 common sails, metal sheeted breast and roof, ladder and tailpole set on cart wheel.  Ceased work by 1890s. Demolished 1916 for quarry.

RUGBY, Hillmorton SP541735 Brick Tower Mill. Built late 18th century (insured 1806).  4 common sails and 2 prs. stones.  Steam power mentioned in 1854 advert. Demolished 1899.

SHREWLEY, Common SP219682 Brick Tower Mill called "Justice". Built late 18th century.  Cylindrical tower of 3 storeys and iron covered cap with tail extension for luffing wheel and chain;  4 common sails, mostly wooden machinery and 2 prs. stones.  Ceased work by sail c.1896 but continued by steam for some years.  Sails removed 1898 Tower and Machinery dismantled 1949.

SHREWLEY, Common SP218681 Post Mill called "Pinchem". Built originally Claverdon 1803; moved and rebuilt at Shrewley Common 1832. Open trestle, 4 common sails, iron sheeted roof, wooden machinery, one pr. stones, ladder and tailpole.  Last worked c.l880; sails blew off. Collapsed 1937; main post sold and wreckage cleared.

SNITTERFIELD, Black Hill SP230591 Whitewashed Brick Tower Mill. Built late 18th century.  4 common sails.  Worked to at least 1880s. Machinery sold c.l893; sails still on when demolished shortly after. Worked with Windmill Inn close by.

SOLIHULL, Bentley Heath, Dorridge (West Midlands) SP166758 Brick Tower Mill.  Built cl830.  Three storeys and cap, 4 sails and 2 prs. stones. Cap and sails removed before 1896, worked by steam, later by oil. All machinery gone by 1925. Stump with adjoining buildings removed by 1960s for housing estate.  One millstone set up on edge as mill "memorial" in Milton Close.

SOLIHULL, Copt Heath (West Midlands) SP174785 Brick Tower Mill. Built probably late 18th century.  Barrel shaped tower, 4 common sails, wheel and luffing gear in tail extension of iron sheeted boat cap; 4 storeys. Ceased work probably 1880s. Sails removed by 1896 and tower demolished early 20th century.

SOLIHULL, Olton End (West Midlands) SP152813 Post Mill. Built possibly after mid 19th century, south-east of watermill.  Midland type compound brick roundhouse.  High extension at mill tail, 4 common sails, ladder and tailpole.  Last used c.l878, derelict by 1897, demolished c.l900.

SOLIHULL, Hasluck's Green or Solihull Lodge (West Midlands) SP101788 Brick Tower Mill.  Built late 18th century, 19th century alterations included tower heightened to 4 storeys, addition of ogee cap with weather-cock, 4 double shuttered sails and fantail; 3 prs. stones.  Disused by 1887. Sails off early 20th century.  Blown up September 1957 for housing estate.
STOCKTON, Rugby Road SP435643 Post Mill. Built 1810. Brick and slated roundhouse , 2 prs. stones, 4 common sails, ladder and tailpole with lever. Ceased work 1879. Pulled down with tower mill c.l923. Millstones now in garden of Mill House.

STOCKTON, Rugby Road SP436642 Brick Tower Mill. Built 2nd half 19th century.  Tower with marked batter, 4 storeys, dome cap, 4 patent sails and fantail.  For sale 1885. Derelict without fantail c.l895. Pulled down with post mill cl923.  Site still apparent in orchard of Mill House.

TANWORTH, Danzey Green SP129692 Post Mill. Midland type brick round-house.  Believed built on site of older post mill by 1830.  4 common sails, one pr. stones, wooden machinery, ladder and tailpole with winch and cartwheel.  New sail stock 1866, but mill probably ceased work 1874 when sail blew off.  Condition deteriorated badly from late 1940s onwards.  Remains taken down 1969 and reconstructed following year at Avoncroft Museum of Buildings, Stoke Prior, near. Bromsgrove, Worcestershire. Mill is now in working order.

TYSOE, Middle Tysoe SP336445 Post Mill. Possibly built 1752 and rebuilt in 19th century after becoming derelict.  Open trestle, 4 common sails. Blown down 1913 and mostly cleared away early 1920s.  Millstone inscribed "W.C. 1752" set up in farmer's garden.

WARMINGTON SP407476 Post Mill. Built 17th century. Open trestle, 4 common sails, roof hipped and extension at tail, 2 prs. stones, ladder and tailpole.  Worked until dismantled 1910-11. (Errata: Sails off by 1907 but gear in working order until mill dismantled 1910-11)

WOLVEY, Heath SP439883 Post Mill. Built by cl820. Roundhouse, 4 common sails, white painted buck, ladder and tailpole. Ceased work by late 19th century.  Demolished 1st decade 20th century.

WOOTTON WAWEN, Bearley (Edstone House) SP181612 Brick Tower Mill. Windmill shown in 1725 may have been post mill, but represented as tower mill late 1780s.  In ruins much of 19th century and remains taken down cl912. 2 millstones remain on site within boundary fence of well grown plantation 1976-77.
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